#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Mark Lamb 8/19/2017

## **Approval Sheet**

Integrating Behavioral Health

Into Primary Care

For Homeless & Uninsured Individuals

in Atlanta:

A Program Evaluation

By

Mark Lamb

Degree to be awarded: MPH

Global Health Department

Dr. Dabney Evans

Committee Chair

Dr. Liz Frye

Committee Member

Integrating Behavioral Health

Into Primary Care

For Homeless & Uninsured Individuals

in Atlanta:

A Program Evaluation

By

## Mark Lamb

BSN, Barnes Jewish College Goldfarb School of Nursing, 2011

BA, Loyola University New Orleans, 2006

Thesis Committee Chair: Dabney Evans, PhD, MPH

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Global Health

2017

#### Abstract

Mercy Care is a grant and donation-funded federally qualified health center and patientcentered medical home. In 2015, the organization provided health and social services for 11,965 patients in Fulton, DeKalb, and Chamblee counties of Atlanta, Georgia. 9,100 patient visits were for mental health. 66% of patients were homeless. 95.5% were uninsured.

Integrated Behavioral Health (IBH) involves screening all primary care patients for depression. Primary care providers (PCP) treat patients screening positive for depression or refer them to a specialist. In 2012, Mercy Care piloted a grant-funded IBH program that since expanded to all its health centers.

From May to August, 2016, the author interviewed clinical and administrative staff at Mercy Care's five, fixed site clinics. Chart reviews of around 1,000 patients yielded variables assessing various aspects of IBH at each location. The author used structured observations and informal conversations with staff to supplement findings from interviews and chart reviews.

This report presents: organizational background on Mercy Care; a literature review of the integrated behavioral health and health services for homeless and uninsured individuals; the program evaluation's methodology; a summary of key findings; conclusions; limitations of the data; and recommendations for Mercy Care.

## **Integrating Behavioral Health**

### **Into Primary Care**

## For Homeless & Uninsured Individuals

## in Atlanta:

## **A Program Evaluation**

## By

## Mark Lamb

BSN, Barnes Jewish College Goldfarb School of Nursing, 2011

BA, Loyola University New Orleans, 2006

Thesis Committee Chair: Dabney Evans, PhD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Global Health

2017

## Acknowledgements

Special thanks to the following individuals for their contributions to my public health education or thesis:

Mercy Care Staff Liz Frye Dabney Evans Theresa Nash Kate Winskell Glenda Wrenn Silke Von Esenwein Benjamin Druss Martha Ward Rachel Waford Monique Hennink Davie Zolowere Solveig Cunningham Joel Hornberger Winifred Thompson Matthew McCurdy Aryeh Stein Amelia Foley Emeli Anderson

# **Table of Contents**

Section 1 – Introduction
Section 2 – Literature Review: Conclusions
Section 3 – IBH Program Evaluation: Methods12
Section 4 – Chart Review Findings15
Section 5 – Findings from Interviews & Observations19
Section 6 – Limitations
Section 7 – Conclusions
Section 8 – Recommendations
Table 1 – Site Characteristics: Summary description of participating clinic sites
Table 2: Clinic Characteristics
Table 3 – Summary of time allocation and evaluation activities at each Mercy Care site31         Figure 1 – Interviewed Clinicians, Years of Experience at Mercy Care
Table 5: Documented BH Referrals & Time to Being Seen, by Clinic40         Figure 14 – Percentage of BH Patients with a Documented Psychotropic41
Table 6: Psychotropic Medications & BH Management, by Clinic41Figure 15 – Percentage of Patients Whose Initial PHQ-9 Was Re-Evaluated42
Table 7: PHQ-9 Score Trends, by Clinic43
Appendix 1: Key Informant Interview Guide44
Appendix 2: Additional Recommendations47
References

## Integrating Behavioral Health Into Primary Care For Homeless & Uninsured Individuals in Atlanta: A Program Evaluation (2016)

## **Section 1 – Introduction**

The purpose of this program evaluation is to identify the strengths and limitations of the following aspects of Mercy Care's Integrated Behavioral Health (IBH) program:

- 1. Interdisciplinary communication.
- 2. Referrals.
- 3. Consultations.
- 4. Processes, protocols, and workflow.
- 5. Documenting, tracking, and using patient metrics to improve and inform treatment.

This assessment is not intended to determine the fidelity of Mercy Care's IBH program to the Collaborative Care model. However, the five core principles of Collaborative Care (University of Washington's AIMS Center – Evidence-based depression care 2016) and the recommendations of the Kennedy Forum brief (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015) influenced the development of the five aspects considered in evaluating Mercy Care's IBH.

This Executive Summary outlines major findings from the author's program evaluation and a literature review focused on integrating behavioral health into primary care services for a homeless, uninsured, and culturally diverse urban population. For additional information, please reference the full report.

## Section 2 – Literature Review: Conclusions

A lack of mental health providers, barriers in access to mental health services, the stigma surrounding mental illness, and limited training for providers result in behavioral health conditions often going untreated (Osborn 2001). Untreated behavioral health issues represent a major concern for providers and patients. If not addressed, patients with these issues will experience worse physical and mental health outcomes (Osborn 2001; Cohen, Edmondson, & Kronish 2015). For healthcare organizations, untreated behavioral health issues may result in clogged waiting rooms and multiple visits from patients with vague or seemingly untreatable somatic concerns (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Ward et al 2015).

Patients who are homeless, uninsured or underinsured, and/or members of a minority group may be more vulnerable to the negative health outcomes associated with untreated behavioral health issues (Aubry, Nelson, Tsemberis 2015; Georgia Department of Community Affairs 2015; Herman et al 2011; Olfson et al 2016; Stergiopoulos et al 2015). Homelessness, poverty, and trauma experienced during youth can cause irreversible damage. Youthful tendencies towards impulsive decisions and risky behaviors further increases physical and mental health risks (Edidin, Ganim, Hunter, & Karnik 2011). Clinicians should be mindful of the sociocontextual circumstances surrounding any patient. Considering patients' lived experiences may help clinicians anticipate health risks and better understand their help-seeking behaviors and expressions of mental distress (Dovidio et al 2008; Hwang et al 2007; McGuire et al 2006; Mustanski et al 2016; Reinschmidt & Chong 2007; Smedley, Stith, Nelson, & Institute of Medicine 2003). Clinicians should also recognize that expressions of mental distress and helpseeking behaviors vary within cultures as much as across cultures (Hwang et al 2007). Presently, research on the effectiveness of cultural competency trainings is limited (Butler et al 2016).

Linking patients to needed social resources such as housing, case management, vocational training, and substance abuse treatment may improve quality of life and clinical outcomes (Aubry, Nelson, Tsemberis 2015; Fitzpatrick-Lewis et al 2011; Slesnick & Erdem 2012).

There are national and local shortages of psychiatric specialists (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Olfson et al 2016; Walker et al 2015). Behavioral health conditions (including substance use issues) are often unrecognized or untreated (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Olfson et al 2016; Weiss, Guidi, & Fava 2009). While most behavioral health conditions are treated in primary care, primary care providers report feeling unprepared to identify and manage many mental health issues (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Kearney et al 2015; Post et al 2009). Primary care providers also vary in their comfort level in prescribing psychotropic medications (Sansone et al 2006).

Integrating behavioral health into primary care can facilitate early identification and treatment of behavioral health conditions (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Kearney et al 2015; Thota et al 2012). With the proper resources, training, referral networks, and staff buy-in, organizations implementing an IBH program may improve the physical and mental health of their patients (Kearney et al 2015; Thota et al 2012). Organizations struggle in recruiting and retaining clinicians with the skills, experience, and adaptability necessary to work effectively in IBH. Administrators in IBH practices often underestimate the time and resources necessary to adequately prepare IBH clinicians (Hall et al 2015). Resources and guidance for providing initial and ongoing education and training are available through the University of Washington's AIMS Center Resource Library (University of Washington...Resource Library 2016).

Clinic layout invariably facilitates or inhibits interdisciplinary collaboration and warm hand-offs. Shared workspaces facilitate warm hand-offs, while separated workspaces prevent

10

them. Ideally, BHSs and PCPs share workspaces in clinics that also offer neutral spaces for private work or meetings (Gunn et al 2015).

For IBH to be effective, organizations should adopt a shared registry of patient information that will guide treatment (Fortney, Sladek, & Unützer 2015; Kearney et al 2015; Thota et al 2012; University of Washington...Principles of Collaborative Care 2016; Unützer et al n.d.). Ideally, the registry is integrated in the electronic health record, allows real-time communication, and aggregates data for efficient generation of population-level reports (Cifuentes et al 2015; Kearney et al 2015). These reports can guide clinician supervision and facilitate modifications of ineffective clinic processes (ibid).

Organizations should also monitor how BHS to PCP staffing ratios and the length of BHS appointment times facilitate or inhibit warm hand-offs. To help ensure BHS are available for consultation, the literature supports staffing multiple BHSs on-site, having a higher BHS to PCP ratio, and limiting pre-scheduled BHS appointment times to 30 minutes. Organizations will likely need to monitor and adjust staffing and scheduling according to resources, outcomes, and staff buy-in (Davis et al 2015).

The use of personal health records for low-income, low literacy patients is feasible, and may increase self-efficacy and reception of preventive care services. To maximize effectiveness, organizations must devote considerable time and resources to training and supporting patients in their use of these electronic records (Druss, Glick, Ji, & von Esenwein 2014).

IBH is a work in progress. Organizations will need to consistently monitor patient outcomes and adjust their staffing, scheduling, and policies to match what proves most effective for their patient population (Gunn et al 2015; Kearney et al 2015; Thota et al 2012). Many practices will need to modify existing infrastructure and resources (including EHRs) to provide

more effective integrated care (Cifuentes et al 2015; Gunn et al 2015). Conducting a needs assessment, involving clinicians and patients in quality improvement measures, and providing ongoing education for staff are steps on the path to improvement (Kearney et al 2015).

## **Section 3 – IBH Program Evaluation: Methods**

## IRB Approval

Emory University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) determined the project did not meet the definition of "research" and "human subjects" and thus did not require IRB approval.

## Clinic Sites

Dr. Liz Frye, Mercy Care psychiatrist and the author's site supervisor, recommended an evaluation of Mercy Care's Decatur (MCD), North (MCN), City of Refuge (COR), Gateway, and St. Luke's clinic sites. Table 1 and Table 2 provides characteristics of each site.

### Shadowing

The author shadowed 34 consenting staff members from the five clinic locations (Table 3).

### In-Depth Interviews

<u>Table 3</u> illustrates the number of interviews conducted, clinicians shadowed, and hours and days spent at each location. <u>Table 3</u> also reviews the roles of staff members interviewed by location. <u>Figure 1</u> shows how long interviewed clinicians worked at Mercy Care. On average, interviewed staff had 5.3 years of experience at Mercy Care (range 2 months – 25 years). <u>Figure 2</u> displays the roles of interviewed staff members.

### Chart Reviews

The author conducted over 1,000 chart reviews of patients visiting any of the five participating Mercy Care sites. While reviewing charts, the author developed and maintained a

double password protected Excel spreadsheet stored on a personal laptop. The spreadsheet contained de-identified information of each primary care patient encounter occurring over unique ten-day periods at each of the five clinics. Each patient was assigned a unique identifier to prevent double-counting of patients with multiple visits to a single clinic during a ten-day period. This also allowed tracking of patients who visited multiple clinics during the assessment period. Due to an error, data is not available on the number of MCD patients with multiple clinic visits during the 10-day evaluation period.

### Chart Review Variables

Variables collected for for each patient included age, gender, date of visit, clinic location, evidence of a behavioral health issue, and documentation of a behavioral health screen. The author also reviewed all medication lists for psychotropics such as anxiolytics, antidepressants, antiepileptics, and antipsychotics. Each psychotropic prescribed to a patient was noted on the spreadsheet.

#### Behavioral Health Referrals

For patients whose behavioral health screen was positive, the author noted the presence or absence of a behavioral health referral documented in the patient's chart. For those referred, the author calculated the number of calendar days between the referral and the patient being seen. Same day consults or meeting documented by both provider and BHS counted as zero days. Due to small sample sizes, the estimated average length of time between referral and appointment at the population and clinic levels should be considered as rough estimates.

### Trending PHQ-9 & GAD-7 Scores

For patients with a positive BH screen, the author documented each PHQ-9, GAD-7, MDQ, and/or PTSD score. For patients scoring  $\geq 8$  on the PHQ-9 or GAD-7, the author noted the

13

date and severity of each score, the time span between the initial and most recent screen, and any improvement or worsening of symptoms. For the PHQ-9 and GAD-7, scores worsened if they increased by 5 or more points and improved if they decreased by 5 or more points. The author deemed scores staying within a +/- 4-point range as unchanged.

Averages calculated based on serial GAD-7 and PHQ-9 scores are based on the small subset of patients that had multiple scores documented. The small sample size exaggerates the effect of those patients with a drastic score increase or reduction, thus skewing the average for that clinic. Larger samples of serial symptom severity scores from each clinic might produce different results. Consequently, averages based on serial PHQ-9 and GAD-7 scores should be considered as rough estimates.

### Behavioral Health Diagnoses

For patients with evidence of a behavioral health issue<sup>1</sup>, the author noted the diagnosis or

diagnoses documented by the clinician. For patients with multiple diagnoses, each issue was

noted.

When one of the above criteria suggested a behavioral health issue but no diagnosis was

documented, the author listed the issue as depression, anxiety, psychosis, mood disorder, and/or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While reviewing charts, the author determined that a patient had evidence of a behavioral health issue based on:

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of a psychiatric diagnosis in clinical notes or ICD-codes;

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of patient self-reporting a history of behavioral health issues;

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of a patient's present or past substance use, only if it obviously interfered with the patient's ability to function (based on self-report or clinician's note);

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of a positive behavioral health screen, unless the patient denied symptoms, a more thorough screen (e.g. PHQ-9 or GAD-7) tested negative, follow-up screens consistently scored negative, and/or other reasonable documentation ruling out a behavioral health issue;

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of obvious behavioral health symptoms, such as hearing voices;

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of patient self-report of needing a specific medication for behavioral health reasons (e.g. an anti-epileptic as a mood stabilizer);

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of a hospitalization or Emergency Room visit for behavioral health reasons.

<sup>-</sup> Documentation of a positive MDQ or PTSD score, or PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score  $\geq 8$ .

substance use. This determination was based on clinical notes. In some instances, clinical documentation did not clearly suggest any specific behavioral health issue. In this case, the author cited the behavioral health issue as unclear. The most common reason a behavioral health issue was labelled unclear was a positive behavioral health screen not being followed up with a BHS clinical note, documentation of symptoms by the provider, or a PHQ-9, GAD-7, or other screening tool.

### **Descriptive Statistics**

The author hand-calculated or used Excel to generate descriptive statistics using data collected during chart reviews. Tables 4 - 7 and Figures 5 - 15 summarize key findings.

## Section 4 – Chart Review Findings

#### Screening Rates

Compared to other clinics, MCD has the lowest BH screening rate (64.8% compared 81.5% average). Observation, chart reviews, and staff interviews suggest this may be due to the hectic nature of the clinic and a possibly different process for documenting the BH screening results of EIC patients. Low screening rates at COR (73.8%) are likely due to new staff and unclear clinic processes. Higher screening rates at St. Luke's (98.6% patients), MCN (95.9%), and Gateway (95.7%) likely result from the smaller clinic size, more controlled patient flow, and clear and consistent clinic processes.

### Mercy Care Decatur (MCD)

MCD is the busiest clinic, averaging 35.6 patient encounters/day. Compared to other clinics, MCD has the lowest BH screening rate (64.8% compared to a 81.5% average). (Possible

reasons for this are discussed above.) Despite low screening rates, 61.9% of screened MCD patients tested positive (compared to 53% patients across all clinics).

#### Mercy Care North (MCN)

Despite having one of the highest screening rates, MCN patients have the lowest prevalence of positive screens (38%, compared to the average 53%). Only 47.9% have documented evidence of a behavioral health issue (compared to 58.8% average). When they do have BH issues, MCN patients present with the fewest documented mental health conditions. Staff interviews and the review of literature suggest this is likely due to underreporting, stigma, denial, or BH issues presenting as somatic complaints. Likely a result of patient resistance to medications and low adherence, MCN patients with BH issues had the lowest prevalence of psychotropics documented in their EHR medication list. The prevalence of substance use is lowest at MCN (1.9%, compared to an all clinic average of 27.3%), suggesting a patient population that doesn't use substances, doesn't report substance use, or a combination of both. A relatively high prevalence of anxiety may result from patient distress related to familial relationships, living apart from family members, or past or present immigration issues. Though not reflected in chart reviews, staff interviews suggest signs and symptoms of PTSD, intimate partner violence or domestic abuse, and co-dependency are also common.

## City of Refuge (COR)

While COR had relatively low BH screening rates, the clinic had the highest prevalence of patients screening positive. COR also had a higher estimated prevalence of patients with BH issues compared to the cross-clinic average (58.8%). This suggests the true prevalence of patients with behavioral health issues at COR is higher than the 69.3% estimated from chart reviews.

Compared to patients at other clinics, anxiety was highly prevalent in COR patients. COR also had the second highest prevalence of patients with three or more BH issues, suggesting that patients may have a longer history of BH issues. Limited data on referrals suggests COR patients referred to BH may be less likely to have same-day or any contact with a BHS. However, this information is based on a small sample size and may be effected by the COR hiring a new BHS during data collection. Data may also reflect the separate BHS workspace and confusion regarding the screening process.

68.6% of COR's BH patients have a psychotropic documented on their EHR medication list. This is 40% higher than the cross-clinic average (48.8%). COR's BH patients more commonly have two or more medications documented. COR patients receiving initial PHQ-9 scores more commonly receive follow-up PHQ-9 testing. They also have the longest time period from initial to most recent PHQ-9 testing, suggesting they remain in care longer.

Based on observation, chart reviews, and staff interviews, these findings may reflect the clinic's proximity to its primary patient population, the administration and documentation of PHQ-9 tests during day groups, and one or two psychiatric providers on-site some days of the week. Data suggest COR behavioral health clinicians have large case loads, diagnose patients clearly, administer and document MBC tests, and prescribe and document medications, but that more patients than are recognized may benefit from behavioral health services. Improving the screening process, increasing the number of same-day BH contacts for patients screening positive, and decreasing the number of referred patients who receive no contact may further address the behavioral health needs of the clinic's target population.

17

#### Gateway

Gateway had by far the shortest wait time, with patients waiting on average 0.7 days for a BH appointment. Only 12.5% of Gateway patients referred to BH had no documented BH contact. This is nearly half the prevalence of referred patients with no documented contact estimated at other clinics. Fewer BH patients at Gateway had a documented psychotropic compared to all other clinics, with the exception of MCN. This may suggest a reluctance to initiate medication therapy for BH patients at Gateway and/or patients not following up for medication management.

Gateway also had a relatively high prevalence of BH patients whose BH issue was unclear. This likely is due to Gateway's having the fewest initial and follow-up PHQ-9 scores documented during the ten days of data collection. The data collection period may have been a slow couple of weeks for the clinic. Construction on the building's first floor and the clinic's location on the second floor may have limited patient access. The small sample size of patients with documented PHQ-9 scores may account for the relatively high percentage of patients whose PHQ-9 scores worsened by 5 or more points.

#### St. Luke's

St. Luke's by far sees the most patients with any behavioral health issue, the most patients with 3 or more behavioral health issues, and the highest overall patients with depression, anxiety, and/or substance use issues. Perhaps due to a common need for drug rehabilitation, a relatively high percentage of St. Luke's patients see an outside provider for behavioral health. St. Luke's clinicians documented the most initial and follow-up PHQ-9 scores for patients. Compared to other clinics, a higher percentage of St. Luke's patients with serial PHQ-9s also showed an improvement of 5 points or greater (63.6% compared to 48.6% average across clinics). On average, St. Luke's patients showed the highest point reduction in most recent PHQ-9 scores (-7.6 points compared to -5.5 point average across clinics).

## Section 5 – Findings from Interviews & Observations

#### Shared Mission

Mercy Care staff shares a common mission to do what's right for patients. Staff have mutual respect and feel they understand their patient population. They believe Mercy Care's IBH program provides necessary services and improves patient outcomes. Despite financial challenges, leadership expressed commitment to maintaining and strengthening IBH.

#### Challenging Patient Population

Staff discussed the challenges of treating a primarily homeless and uninsured patient population. Patients often present in crisis mode with multiple acute and/or chronic conditions. Their lack of reliable housing, finances, transportation, and access to health services complicates treatment and follow-up. Exposure to the elements, violence, infectious disease, and prejudice often exacerbate their illnesses. Attempting to address the many issues faced by patients requires teamwork, but can be exhausting for clinicians.

Some patients are suspicious of or resistant to behavioral health services. This results from cultural stigma or a misunderstanding of what behavioral health services entail. Clinicians address this by describing the role of the BHS in neutral terms and by reframing behavioral health issues.

Some staff identified high no-show rates of BH patients, a high volume of patients, and the inability to anticipate the needs of patients that present to primary care on walk-in days as barriers to proactive management and follow-up of behavioral health issues.

#### Expectations, Orientation, & Training

Staff reported there is currently no formal orientation for new employees regarding what IBH is and how it should operate. Some felt uncertain which behavioral health conditions Mercy Care expects providers to treat. Nearly all interviewed clinicians wanted more training about how to identify and treat common behavioral health conditions. Some providers felt that decision trees or protocols to guide when to treat, when to refer, when to increase a medication, switch to a different medication, or other such guidelines would help their practice.

Tension seems to derive from some staff wanting to ensure that all providers have a clear understanding of their role and expectations in IBH, while others want a secure support system in place before clearly and directly telling providers how to practice. Several providers felt that regardless of Mercy Care's expectations of providers, they often face situations in which they feel pressured to refill or prescribe psychiatric medications with which they are neither familiar nor comfortable.

#### Staffing & Clinic Roles

Mercy Care administrative staff reported difficulties securing funding and recruiting talented people as two major challenges for its IBH program.

Several clinicians felt nurses could be better utilized in IBH. Mercy Care nurses might be able to educate BHSs on common medical conditions, or work closely with BHSs to help patients manage chronic conditions.

Based on clinical notes and observation, the need to expand substance abuse services seems under-recognized. Clinical notes suggest substance dependence or abuse represents a major barrier to remaining in care. Several staff felt case managers and care coordinators are currently underutilized in IBH. Many clinicians wanted to know how they could use case managers to better serve their patients.

As the first point-of-contact, MOSs represent the first opportunity to screen patients for behavioral health. MOSs may offer valuable insight in improving Mercy Care screening, or other IBH work flow processes. Mercy Care should should consider involving MOSs in IBH-related education and process improvement.

A few clinicians felt that increasing the number of chaplains to offer support for patients may be an opportunity to improve patient outcomes. Mercy Care might also consider providing basic training to chaplains regarding common psychiatric conditions, symptoms, and treatment.

Most staff wanted a directory that displays the names, roles, job duties, and contact information of all staff members.

#### **Clinic Processes**

Nearly everyone interviewed expressed frustration with MCD's scheduling and walk-in process. Inefficient scheduling and registration likely represents a barrier to integrated behavioral health. Perhaps easier access to information for patients might help streamline the registration process. For patients lacking internet access, an automated phone system could provide callers with the hours for dental, vision, PPD reading, medication refills, and other services, and could include an option for information about paperwork patients should bring for their first appointment. Employing a nurse to triage patients might ensure urgent cases secure appointments or, if appropriate, receive prompt referral to the Emergency Department or Urgent Care.

For patients who don't want or need to see medical, a policy requiring them to see a medical provider before a BHS may create an additional barrier to behavioral health services that

some patients may not tolerate. If this is a Mercy Care policy and can be revised, leadership should consider allowing BH appointments prior to seeing a medical provider.

#### Tension Between Behavioral Health & Primary Care

While the clinicians mutually respect one another, the author identified tension underlying the relationship between behavioral health and primary care. The tension seems to result from the stress of managing patients with difficult to treat behavioral health issues. For medical providers, the stress is exacerbated by uncertainty regarding organizational expectations and/or the feeling of not being fully supported. Walk-in days and new patients are particularly stressful. For behavioral health specialists, stress results from having limited options for referring or managing patients whose behavioral health conditions exceed the scope of the medical provider's training. For psychiatric specialists, the stress seems to result from managing a large caseload of complex patients, being available for consultation, and occasionally providing behavioral health education to staff.

#### **Potential Solutions**

Developing a protocol to guide medical providers in deciding when to refer and when to treat and training providers on the medications and conditions they're expected to manage with consultation may reduce anxiety and promote confidence in medical clinicians. Such a protocol might address a medical provider's encounters with:

- new and unstable behavioral health patients with schizophrenia, bipolar, or psychosis;

- patients whose behavioral health issue do not respond to the medical provider's treatment;

- patients previously seen by psychiatry who ran out of psychotropics or were lost to follow up; and

22

- patients with bipolar or schizophrenia stabilized by treatment prescribed by a Mercy Care psychiatric specialist.

Hiring additional psychiatric staff to expedite referrals may also alleviate tension.

## Section 6 – Limitations

#### Patients Lost to Follow-Up

The author was unable to track the symptom severity of patients lost to follow up. Interviews with staff and a review of literature suggest reasons patients fall out of care, but does not offer insight into these patients' outcomes over time. Comparing outcomes for patients falling out of care with patients who remain in care would prove useful in suggesting the effectiveness of interventions. However, patients falling out care seem likely to differ significantly from patients remaining in care, making a comparison of the two groups problematic.

## Limited Time-Period

Data from this evaluation derives from chart reviews of patients attending Mercy Care's fixed-location clinics between the end of May to the end of July 2016. The author shadowed and interviewed clinicians during the same period. Consequently, report findings only reflect Mercy Care's IBH program during the summer of 2016.

#### Lack of Counterfactual or Control Group

For improving behavioral health patients, determining whether Mercy Care interventions are responsible for symptom reduction is limited by the lack of a counterfactual. Since patients' symptoms could improve without intervention or due to other factors, causation cannot be established.

#### Lack of Pre-Implementation Data

To the author's knowledge, no data shows outcomes of Mercy Care's behavioral health patients prior to IBH implementation. Such data would help demonstrate patient status before and after IBH implementation.

#### Inability to Determine Which Interventions Are Most Effective

Chart reviews suggest the typical patient's GAD-7 and/or PHQ-9 scores move up and down, alternatively improving and deteriorating. Highs and lows seem to correlate with events beyond Mercy Care's control. Traumatic events, substance use relapse, an injury, or loss of a job or housing may cause a spike in symptom severity.

Mercy Care patients receive wrap-around services. Over the course of a year, a patient may interact with a case manager, medical doctor or nurse practitioner, substance abuse counselor, BHS, psychiatric specialist, dentist, and ophthalmologist. Medication adjustments likely help with behavioral health symptom management, but are potentiated by case management, therapy, and other social assistance. Multiple interventions targeting different stressors likely improve patient outcomes.

Patients whose symptoms improve can best explain which interventions they found most effective. Future evaluations might survey or interview such patients.

#### Inability to Link Patients with Primary Clinicians

Due to staff turnover and patients seeing multiple providers, the author did not attempt to link patients to clinicians. Doing so would make new providers and BHSs responsible for patients previously on the caseload of a former employee, and would not accurately reflect current clinicians. Linking patient outcomes to clinicians would be useful for professional development. Administratively, it would help demonstrate the effectiveness of trainings. In the future, Mercy Care should consider how it can accurately collect and use such information.

### Limitations of Interviews

The author attempted to interview clinical and administrative staff representative of a variety of roles and experience levels. (Characteristics of interviewed staff are outlined in <u>Table</u> <u>2</u>.) Interview findings summarized in this document only represent interviewed staff. Additionally, one interviewed staff person did not consent to being audio-recorded. Notes from that interview summarize the conversation, but are less thorough then audio-recorded and transcribed interviews.

Interviews occurred during a clinician's downtime during work hours. Interviewees were provided the opportunity to speak about other issues effecting IBH at Mercy Care not asked about by the author. Interview fatigue and competing work demands may have influenced respondent's answers. While the author assured confidentiality, participants may have been reluctant to speak negatively about their organization. Social desirability bias may have also been present.

#### Limitations of Chart Reviews

During the first two weeks of data collection at MCD, the criteria were tested and refined. Initially, the author did not collect a patient's name and birthdate and so was unable to determine if a patient had multiple visits. Upon realizing this error, the author began collecting this information. Because of the initial mistake, data is not available on the number of MCD patients with multiple clinic visits during the 10-day evaluation period.

#### Possible Errors in Data Collection, Entry, or Analysis

The author intended for structured observations and staff interviews and shadowing to explain the descriptive statistics calculated from data collected during chart reviews. Findings documented in this report reflect that assumption. However, proposed explanations of findings may be inaccurate due to errors in data collection, entering, or analysis. Efforts to minimize these errors include audio-recording and transcribing interviews, repeating observations, asking staff for clarification, writing detailed field notes, and multiple quality checks at various stages of data entry and calculation. Ideally, multiple members of a research team could check one another's work for errors. One person conducting this evaluation likely increased the risk that errors occurred.

## **Section 7 – Conclusions**

Mercy Care provides primary care and behavioral health services to a population of mostly homeless and uninsured patients in Atlanta. During the time of data collection, interviewed staff felt the organization's three-year old IBH program ensured highly needed services to vulnerable patients. Staff felt confident IBH improves patient outcomes. Despite challenges related to funding, staffing, and managing complex patients, Mercy Care staff demonstrated a commitment to continue behavioral health services.

Mercy Care patients have complex medical, social, and psychiatric needs. Their lack of consistent and reliable transportation, housing, finances, and access to health services complicates treatment plans.

Chart reviews revealed that some clinics had higher screening rates than others. The prevalence of patients with behavioral health issues also varied by clinic. Clinics with the highest

screening rates tended to be smaller and have more controlled patient flow. Clinics with lower screening rates had unclear screening processes and recent staff turn-over. Co-locating BHSs and primary care providers did not effect screening rates, but did increase collaboration.

Interviewed clinicians expressed a desire to learn more about managing behavioral health conditions in primary care. Staff felt a formal, IBH-specific orientation would help clinicians understand how IBH ideally functions. Several clinicians expressed confusion about various aspects of IBH, including how patients are screened, which conditions medical providers are expected to treat, when to refill psychotropics prescribed by other providers, when to initiate a psychotropic or adjust dosage, and how to manage psychiatrically unstable patients when an internal referral to psychiatry did not seem possible.

Staff commonly referenced processes that they felt inhibited or facilitated IBH at different clinics. Walk-in days at MCD were widely considered stressful and chaotic. Some clinicians felt requiring patients who seek behavioral health services to see a medical provider first was a barrier to prompt treatment.

Medical providers wanted more training about psychotropics and common psychiatric conditions. They appreciated BHSs and felt a BHS should always be on-site when patients are being seen. They felt consultation with the psychiatric specialist was helpful, but were frustrated that psychiatry was no longer seeing new patients. Several providers wanted guidelines, protocols, or clinical prompts to aid them in managing patients with behavioral health conditions.

The unspoken tension between behavioral health and primary care seems to result from lack of formal orientation and ongoing training and support for medical providers, and unrealistic workloads for psychiatric specialists.

27

## **Section 8 – Recommendations**

The following recommendations are based on interview results and observations. After developing a list of recommendations, the author identified those recommendations most commonly cited by staff. Commonly cited recommendations that aligned with issues identified during chart reviews were deemed most urgent. According to chart reviews and staff interviews, the most urgent recommendations are:

- Develop a formal, IBH-specific orientation for new staff. Clearly communicate expectations to medical providers.
- 2. Increase the number of psychiatric specialists. Reserve one psychiatric specialist to be available for consultations and to educate providers on behavioral health issues.
- Ensure clinicians receive ongoing education and training on identifying and treating behavioral health conditions.
- 4. Develop a protocol to clarify the management of new patients who were previously prescribed psychotropics that medical providers do not feel comfortable managing.
- 5. Reserve time each week for interdisciplinary consultation on difficult-to-manage patients.
- 6. Identify a means for tracking individual behavioral health patient outcomes.
- 7. Ensure daily BHS coverage at each clinic location.
- 8. Use morning huddles as an opportunity for medical and BH staff to identify mutual patients and anticipate issues that may develop during the day.
- 9. At clinics with lower screening rates, consider adopting screening strategies employed by clinics with higher screening rates.
- 10. Explore options for improving the walk-in process at MCD.
- 11. Hire another SAC and offer SAC services at St. Luke's.

## Additional Recommendations

During interviews, all staff spoke of the stress associated with walk-in days at MCD. Interviews, personal communication with staff, and observation of the registration process and clinic flow on walk-in days inspired recommendations regarding the registration and scheduling process. Walk-in days impact IBH to the extent that walk-in days at MCD are stressful for patients and clinicians and seem to be a barrier to smooth clinic processes. Addressing this may help prevent staff burnout and turnover and alleviate patients of an additional source of stress. Additional recommendations regarding walk-in days and a range of other issues are listed in <u>Appendix 2</u>.

Table 1 – Site Characteristics: Summary description of participating clinic sites.       Deseture     North       City of Defuge     Cataway       St. Luke's						
D :	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	
Primary	Mostly homeless,	Mostly	Mostly women	Mostly homeless	Mostly	
Population	unemployed	Hispanic,		men	homeless, high	
Served		housed,			prevalence drug-	
	· · ·	working	N C 1 1 111		use & BH issues	
Site Assets	Various services,	Culturally	Modern building,	Multiple other	Proximity to	
	case mgt, spacious	competent	spacious halls,	services on-site,	shelter, high	
	lobby, mult BHSs	care, various	exam rooms, &	controlled clinic	demand for	
	on-site, proximity	services,	lobby; proximity	flow, referrals	services,	
	public transit &	proximity to	to shelter and	from other	controlled clinic	
	public hospital,	farmers	other services,	services,	flow	
	work pods &	market, Good	gated compound,	recuperative care		
	consult rooms,	Will,	groups available,	on-site		
	space for meetings	controlled	peer support			
	& groups, mobile	clinic flow,	specialist on-site,			
	coach parking,	pediatrics	psychiatric			
	SAC & psych	offered	services, pediatrics			
	services	a 11 1	offered	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b>	
Site Challenges	Maze-like halls	Small work	Crowded provider	Limited	Limited	
	make it easy to	space,	room, BHS room	workspace, no	workspace, no	
	lose patients,	crowded	separated from	groups, clinic not	groups, clinic not	
	clinicians; limited	provider room,	provider room,	obvious from	obvious from	
	workspace, walk-	limited consult	some patients	street	street, high-	
	in days are hectic,	room, strong	don't like		crime area, BH	
	can seem overly	population	traveling there,		office separated	
	crowded, lack of	stigma against	clinic not		from clinic,	
	shelter for patients	BH, patients	obviously		limited services,	
	lining up early,	feel vulnerable	accessible from		BHS not on-site	
	many staff roles	outside in	the street, high-		daily	
D 11	can be confusing	morning	crime area	1	1	
Providers on-	~3-6	3-4	2-3	1	1	
site	2.2	1	1.2	1	0.1	
BHSs on-site	2-3	1 Availahlaha	~1-3	1 Somotimes or	0-1	
Psychiatric	Sometimes on-	Available by	Sometimes on-	Sometimes on-	Available by	
Consultant	site, available by	phone	site, available by	site, available by	phone	
Shaved/Samanata	phone	Sharad	phone Mixed (DU office	phone	Samarata	
Shared/Separate	Shared	Shared	Mixed (BH office	Shared	Separate	
Workspace			separate; psych shared w/ PCPs)			
Morning	Consistent, work-	Consistent,	Inconsistent,	Consistent, mostly	Consistent,	
Huddles	related & prayer	work-related	mostly	prayer/reflection	work-related &	
	г	& prayer	prayer/reflection	1 5	prayer	
			r-wjer, reneeddon		<b>F</b> - <b>WJ-V</b>	

 Table 1 – Site Characteristics: Summary description of participating clinic sites.

Key: <u>BH</u>=behavioral health; <u>PCP</u>=primary care provider; <u>PEDS</u>=pediatric services; <u>psych</u>= psychiatric; <u>SAC</u>=substance abuse counseling

Table 2: Clinic Characteristics						
	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	All Clinics
# Primary Care	356	328	113	76	90	963
Encounters in 10 days	(35.6)	(32.8)	(11.3)	(7.6)	(9)	(96.3)
(average encounter/day)						
# Individual Pts (in 10	354	311	101	67	72	905
days)						
# Pts w/ multiple		17	12	9	18	Excluding MCD
encounters (% all pt	data	(5.5)	(11.9)	(11.8)	(20)	56
encounters)	n/a					(9.2)
% Female	36.6	79.5	77	19.7	45.5	58.2
(% Male)	(63.3)	(20.5)	(23)	(80.3)	(54.5)	(41.8)
Average Age	47	48	46.6	45.9	45.3	47
(range)	(19 - 69)	(19 - 91)	(20 - 66)	(21 - 63)	(21 - 68)	(19 - 91)
						<b>`</b> ,

 Table 2: Clinic Characteristics

Table 3 – Summary	of time allocation and evaluation activities at each	n Mercy Care site.
-------------------	--	--------------------

	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	Total
# Days On-Site	24	10	8	6	2	50
Hours On-Site	170.75	67	54.75	35.5	14	342
(Hours/day)	(7.1)	(6.7)	(6.8)	(5.9)	(7)	(6.8)
# Clinicians Shadowed (Roles Shadowed)	<b>15</b> (3 BHSs, 1 CM, 2 MAs, 2 MDs (1 <i>PCP, 1 Psych</i> ), 3 MORs, 2 NPs, 1 RN, 1 SAC)	<b>6</b> (1 BHS, 1 MA, 1 MD, & 3 MORs)	<b>6</b> (1 BHS, 1 MA, 1 MD, 1 Psych NP, 1 PSS, 1 RN)	5 (1 BHS, 1 MA, 1 MOR, 1 NP, 1 RN)	<b>2</b> (1 NP, 1 MA)	34 (6 BHSs, 1 CM, 6 MAs, 4 MDs, 7 MORs, 5 NPs, 1 PSS, 3 RNs, 1 SAC)
# Staff Formally Interviewed (Roles Interviewed)	<b>19</b> (4 Admin, 3 BHSs, 1 CM, 4 MDs (2 <i>PCPs, 1 Psych, 1</i> <i>OD</i> ); 3 NPs, 4 RNs)	5 (1 Admin, 1 BHS, 1 MD, 1 NP, 1 RN)	8 (2 BHSs, 1 MA, 2 MDs (1 MD & 1 Peds), 1 NP, 1 PSS, 1 RN)	<b>3</b> (1 BHS, 2 NPs ( <i>Psych NP &amp;</i> <i>FNP</i> ))	<b>1</b> (1 NP)	35 (4 Admin, 7 BHSs, 1 CM, 1 MA, 7 MDs, 8 NPs, 1 PSS, & 6 RNs)
# Individual Medical Pt Chart Reviews	356	312	102	67	76	907
# Medical Pt Encounters (Encounters/Day (10 day period))	354 (35.4)	328 (32.8)	113 (11.3)	76 (7.6)	90 (9)	963 (96.3)

Key: <u>Admin</u>=Administrative positions, including leadership positions; <u>BHS</u>=Behavioral Health Specialists, including supervisory BHSs; <u>CM</u>=Case Manager, including CMs for housing and HIV patients; <u>MA</u>=Medical Assistant; <u>MD</u>=Medical Doctor, including primary care providers, opthalmologists (<u>OD</u>), pediatricians (<u>Peds</u>), and psychiatrists (<u>Psych</u>); <u>MOR</u>=Medical Office Receptionist; <u>NP</u>=Nurse practitioner, including family (<u>FNP</u>) and psychiatric NPs (<u>Psych NP</u>); <u>PSS</u>=Peer Support Specialist; <u>RN</u>=Registered Nurse, including RN case managers and psychiatrics RNs; <u>SAC</u>=Substance Abuse Counselor.



Above: One-third of interviewees worked for the organization between 2-3 years. Eight worked a year or less. Ten worked fewer than 2 years, seven of whom worked less than a year. Six worked more than ten years, three of whom had been there greater than twenty years.





BH Clinician= BHS, psychiatrist, or psychiatric nurse practitioner; Medical Provider= MD or Nurse Practitioner; RN= Registered Nurse (RN) Case Mgr or Clinic RN; Admin=Administration, including Director of Behavioral Health, Clinic Manager, Medical Director, and President; MA/PSS/Case Mgr= Medical Assistant, Peer Support Specialist, & non-RN case managers.

Above: The largest percentage of interviewed staff were medical providers, followed by behavioral health clinicians. Interviews were fairly evenly distributed between medical providers (34%), behavioral health clinicians (26%), and ancillary or administrative staff (40%).



Figure 3 – Average Number of Patients Seen Per Day, By Clinic

Above: During data collection, providers at MCD and MCN saw the most patients per day. Providers at Gateway, St. Luke's, and City of Refuge saw the least. This mostly correlates with the number of providers on site for each clinic. City of Refuge generally had two medical providers on-site, compared to one provider at Gateway, and one at St. Luke's.



Figure 4 – Comparison of Male and Female Patients, By Clinic

Above: The vast majority of patients at COR and MCN were female, while males accounted for most of the patients at Gateway and MCD. Only St. Luke's had a relatively even mix of male and female patients.



Figure 5 – Percentage of Eligible Patients Receiving a BH Screen, By Clinic

Above: Unclear clinic processes at COR likely accounts for the clinic's low screening rate. The relatively low rate at MCD is likely due to a difference in documenting BH issues for patient of Early Intervention Care (EIC). Smaller clinic sizes, clear clinic processes, and more controlled patient flow may explain the higher screening rates at MCN, Gateway, and St. Luke's.



Figure 6 – Percentage of Screened Patients Testing Positive, By Clinic

Above: Despite relatively low screening rates, screening at COR yields the highest percentage of patients with positive behavioral health screens. This suggests the actual prevalence of patients with behavioral health issues is higher than estimated. Cultural stigma and resistance to behavioral health likely explains the relatively low prevalence of positive screens at MCN.



Figure 7 – Percentage of All Patients with Documented Evidence of a BH Issue, By Clinic

Above: The author determined patients had evidence of a behavioral health issue if their charts included on documentation of: a psychiatric diagnosis; a self-reported history of behavioral health issues; present or past substance use that obviously interfered with the patient's ability to; a positive behavioral health screen; obvious behavioral health symptoms, such as hearing voices; a self-report of needing a specific medication for behavioral health reasons; a hospitalization or Emergency Room visit for behavioral health reasons; a positive MDQ or PTSD score; or a PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score  $\geq 8$ .



Figure 8 – Percentage of BH Patients Whose BH Issue is Unclear Per Documentation

Above: Gateway had the highest percentage of BH patients whose BH issue was unclear, according to documentation. For most cases, unclear documentation meant the patient screened positive, but there was no psychiatric diagnosis, and follow-up PHQ-9 and GAD-7 scores were less than 8, and the MDQ scored negative.



## Figure 9 – Percentage of All Patients with Documented Evidence of a Substance Use Issue, **By Clinic**

Above: The prevalence of patients with documented substance use issues is remarkably higher at St. Luke's compared to other clinics. This is likely explained by the clinic's proximity to a rehabilitation center and homeless shelter reputed for high drug use. Almost no MCN patients have evidence of a substance use issue documented, suggesting either minimal substance use by patients, low-reporting of substance use issues, patients not being asked about substance use issues, low documentation of substance use issues, or a combination of these reasons.



Figure 10 - Percentage of All Patients with Documented Evidence of 3 or More BH Conditions

Above: One-quarter of all St. Luke's patients have documented evidence of three or more behavioral health conditions. This is greater than double the average seen across all clinics. Thorough documentation, a psychiatrically complex patient population, and the high prevalence of substance use issues are possible explanations for this disparity.

GW

STL

COR

MCN

MCD

ALL CLINICS
Table 4: BH Screens & Documented BH Issues, by Clinic								
	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	All Clinics		
% Pts Screened for BH	64.8	95.9	73.8	95.7	98.6	81.5		
(% Needing Screen)	(35.2)	(4.1)	(26.2)	(4.3)	(1.4)	(18.5)		
			× ,	~ /		~ /		
%Screened Screening (+)	61.9	38	73.3	59.4	60.6	53		
(%Screened Screening (-)	(38.1)	(62)	(26.7)	(40.6)	(39.4)	(47)		
		× ,	× ,	( )		( )		
% BH Issue	56.2	47.9	<u>69.3</u>	70.1	93	<u>58.8</u>		
% No BH Issue	14.7	44.4	7.9	$\frac{70.1}{23.9}$	$\frac{93}{7}$	24.2		
(% unclear/unknown)	(29.1)	(7.7)	(22.8)	(6)	(0)	(17)		
	(_).1)	(1.1)	(0)	(0)		(17)		
% All pts w/ documented	33.9	29	41.6	37.3	57	34.9		
DEPRESSION	55.5	_>	11.0	57.5	0,	5 1.9		
% BH pts w/ documented	60.3	60.4	60	52.1	61.2	61		
DEPRESSION	00.0			•=	···-	01		
% All pts w/ documented	17.2	16.7	28.7	17.9	29.2	19		
ANXIETY	17.2	10.7	20.7	11.9		17		
% BH pts w/ documented	30.7	41.6	41.4	25.5	31.3	32.9		
ANXIETY								
% All pts w/ documented	16.4	1.9	22.8	29.8	54.2	27.3		
SUBSTANCE USE								
% BH pts w/ documented	29	4	32.9	20.8	58	15.6		
SUBSTANCE USE								
% All Pts BH	4	5.5	4	16.4	8.3	5.1		
Issue=Unclear								
% BH Pts BH	2.3	11.4	5.7	23.4	9	8.9		
Issue=Unclear								
% All pts w/ 2 BH issues	16.9	11.6	37	34	33.3	16.8		
% BH pts w/ exactly 2 BH	30.2	23.5	25.7	23.9	35.8	29.5		
issues								
% All pts w/ $\geq$ 3 BH issues	9	3.2	15.8	6	25	8.8		
-								
% BH pts w/ $\geq$ 3 BH issues	16.1	6.7	22.9	8.5	26.9	15.5		
1								

Table 4: BH Screens & Documented BH Issues, by Clinic



Figure 11 – Average Estimated Time Lapse Between a BH Referral & the Patient Seeing a BHS

Above: Due to unclear documentation, the average estimated number of days between a BH referral and the patient seeing a BHS is based on a very small sample of patients. MCN shows the longest gap between a referral and a patient being seen. This is likely explained by patient resistance to being seen by a BHS and the relatively large sample size of patients with clearly documented referrals to behavioral health. The extremely low time gap for referrals at Gateway is probably due to the high percentage of referred patients seen by the BHS on the same day.

Figure 12 – Percentage of Patients Referred to BH with Documented Same-Day Contact



Above: MCN and Gateway, two clinics where the BHS and medical providers share workspace, have higher percentage of patient referred to behavioral health with same-day contact with the BHS. By comparison, the BHS and medical providers have separate workspaces at COR and St. Luke's, where the prevalence of same-day contact with the BHS is relatively low. Data was not available for estimates at MCD.



Above: The percentage of patients referred to behavioral health with no documented contact with the BHS was fairly consistent across clinics, with the exception of Gateway. Gateway's low rate of referred patients with no BH contact may partially be explained by the controlled clinic flow, shared workspace, and close collaboration between the BHS and medical provider. Despite a shared workspace, the percentage of referred patient with no BH contact at MCN was similar to clinics where the BHS and medical providers don't share a workspace. This may be due to patient resistance to being seen and the limited availability of the clinic's only BHS. Data was not available for estimates at MCD.

Figure 13 – Percentage of Patients Referred to BH with No Documented Contact with BH

I ubie				Ŭ Ŭ	í ľ	
	MCD	MCN	COR	Gateway	St. Luke's	All Clinics
# BH pts seen by PCP with clearly documented referral to BH Excludes pts with referral documented during data collection	Data n/a	84	33	16	23	184
Average # days between BHS referral & pt seeing BHS	Data n/a		21 (0 - 180)	3.5 (0 - 40)	24.1 (0 - 270)	15.5 (0 - 270)
(range)* Excludes pts with no visit/contact documented by BHS prior to data collection		11.2 (0 - 150)	8.5 (0 - 49)	0.7 (0 - 5)	9.6 (0 - 42)	13.7 (0 - 180)
% Pts referred to BH with no BH contact documented on EHR*	Data n/a	22.6	24.2	12.5	21.7	22.3
% Pts referred to BH with same-day BH contact documented on EHR	Data n/a	47.7	22.2	56.3	26.1	43.5
% established BH Pts seen by PCP for whom author was unable to calculate time from BH referral to being seen*	Data n/a	2.3	26.7	30.4	15.6	14.4

Table 5: Documented BH Referrals & Time to Being Seen, by Clinic

\*Excludes new referrals and patients whose initial referral (if any) was not clearly documented in EHR.



Figure 14 – Percentage of BH Patients with a Documented Psychotropic

Above: The relatively low rate of BH patients at MCN with a documented psychotropic is likely explained by patient resistance to psychiatric therapy. A higher rate seen at COR may be due to BH patients seen at this location for a longer duration and the occasional on-site presence of a psychiatrist and psychiatric NP.

Table 6: Psychotropic Medications & BH Management, by Clinic						
	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	All Clinics
% BH pts with psychotropic documented	54.8	33.6	68.6	42.5	47.8	48.8
on EHR med list						
% BH pts with exactly 2	20.1	8.7	24.3	17	17.9	17.4
documented psychotropics						
% BH pts with 3 or more	15.6	3.3	20	6.4	14.9	12.2
documented psychotropics						
% BH pts documented as	6.4	8.6	8.5	2.7	32.7	11.2
being treated by an						
outside provider,						
including rehab facility						

# Table 6: Psychotropic Medications & BH Management, by Clinic



Figure 15 – Percentage of Patients Whose Initial PHQ-9 Was Re-Evaluated

Above: The percentage of patients re-evaluated after an initial PHQ-9 score of  $\geq 8$  is highest at COR. This is likely due to patients who attend groups being screened at each visit and the psychiatrist and psychiatric NP screening patients with each encounter. Lower rates may reflect patients not attending follow-up appointments or being lost to follow up.

Table 7: PHQ-9 Score Trends, by Clinic							
	Decatur	North	City of Refuge	Gateway	St. Luke's	All Clinics	
#Pts w/ documented	79	128	40	28	128	307	
PHQ-9 scores	(45)	(50)	(28)	(14)	(56)	(138)	
(#Pts w/ multiple PHQ-9	()		()	()	()	()	
scores)							
% of Pts w/ PHQ-9	57	39	70	50	43.8	45	
scores with a f/u PHQ-9		•		00		10	
score documented							
Average initial PHQ-9	15.4	8.9	15.5	15.8	15.5	12.8	
score	(0 - 27)	(0 - 27)	(1 - 27)	(0 - 25)	(0 - 27)	(0 - 27)	
(range)	(*)	(* _/)	( )	(**)	(*)	(*)	
Average most recent f/u	11.3	7.7	12.4	12	9.5	10.2	
PHQ-9 score	(0 - 26)	(0 - 27)	(0 - 27)	(2 - 25)	(0 - 24)	(0 - 27)	
(range)	(* _*)	(* _/)	(* _)	()	(*)	(* _/)	
% of pts w/ documented	40.9	51.2	53.6	42.9	63.6	48.6	
serial PHQ-9 scores		·				1010	
whose f/u PHQ-9 scores							
improved $\geq 5$ points							
% of pts w/ documented	4.4	14.6	7.1	28.6	9.1	10.9	
serial PHQ-9 scores							
whose f/u PHQ-9 scores							
are getting worse by $\geq 5$							
points							
% of pts w/ documented	54.5	34.1	39.3	28.6	27.3	40.6	
serial PHQ-9 scores							
whose f/u PHQ-9 scores							
are staying about the							
same (+/-4)							
Average difference in	-4.5	-4.4	-5.9	-3.5	-7.6	-5.5	
score between initial and	(-16 - +6)	(-17 –	(-24 - +11)	(-20 - +12)	(-19 - +6)	(-24 -	
most recently		+16)	, ,	,		+16)	
documented f/u PHQ-9		,				,	
(range)							
Average length of time	154.2	148.3	209.6	157.4	173.2	165.5	
between initial and most	(7 - 120)	(7 - 390)	(14 - 420)	(7 - 360)	(37 - 390)	(7 - 420)	
recently documented f/u							
PHQ-9							
(range)							
(range)							

Table 7: PHQ-9 Score Trends, by Clinic

# **Appendix 1: Key Informant Interview Guide**

Good morning. My name is a Mark, a student at the Rollins School of Public Health at Emory. For my summer practicum project, I am evaluating Mercy Care's Integrated Behavioral Health (IBH) Program. The evaluation entails interviewing clinicians from each of the five fixedlocation sites about their perceptions and experiences of IBH at their health centers. I will also assess various metrics in the Electronic Health Record (EHR). You were selected to be interviewed because of your role at Mercy Care and your willingness to allow me to shadow you today. I want to be clear that you are not being evaluated. The purpose of this evaluation is to identify what is going well with IBH and what can be improved. While the results will be shared with Mercy Care, nothing you say or do today will be linked directly back to you. I will compare observations and our discussion today with what is observed and discussed with other clinicians and at other sites. All of this information will be used to create a general overview of Mercy Care's IBH right now, what is going well, and what can be improved. As a clinician working within IBH, your insight is critical for understanding how the program works and how it can improve.

Participation in the interview is completely voluntary. Your responses are appreciated, but you're not obligated to answer every question. You may skip any questions you'd prefer not to answer. With your permission, I'd like to record our discussion so that I can pay full attention to what you're saying without scribbling notes. After our interview, I will listen to the recording, write down everything stated, remove any identifying information such as names, and permanently delete the recording. Your name or other identifying information will not be linked to the transcription. If I quote anything you say, the quote would be placed in context with the question I asked leading up to the quote and a summary of what was discussed prior to the statement. That quote will not have any identifying information, and would be used as an example of a common theme mentioned by several interviewees, or as something that contradicted what other interviewees stated.

What questions do you have about the interview?

Do I have your permission to record our conversation?

I have list of questions I'd like us to focus on, but you're free to bring up any topics you feel demonstrate what is going well and what can be improved with Mercy Care's IBH.

## Background

First, I'd like to learn a little about your background as a clinician. Remember, you are not being evaluated. This is just to provide me with some background about the education and training of Mercy Care clinicians.

1-How long have you worked at Mercy Care?

2-Could you tell me about any education or training you've received in treating mental illness? *Probes : As a student? In your career?* 

## **IBH Processes at Mercy Care**

Next, I'd like to hear your perceptions regarding IBH processes at Mercy Care.

3- In your experience, how have IBH processes changed at Mercy Care over time?

Probes : What changes have you seen in IBH processes? How have processes gotten better or worse?

4-For this question, think about some of the ways clinicians communicate about patient issues within IBH. Can you think of some ways patients are affected by communication amongst clinicians?

## Probes :

What are some examples of how communication among staff helped a patient? What are some examples of how miscommunication led to a missed opportunity to help a patient?

# **Experience Treating Mercy Care Patients with Mental Health Issues**

For these next questions, I'd like to hear about your experiences treating patients with mental health issues within IBH.

5-Can you describe some examples of patients you'd expect medical providers to treat on their own without consultation or referral?

# Probes :

What experiences or training would help them treat thsee patient?

6-Can you describe some examples of patients seen in primary care whose mental health issues did not improve with treatment?

Probes :

Examples of the patient's behavioral health issues? Examples of patients where the behavioral health treatment plan was altered?

7-Can you describe some of the times when primary care consulted a psychiatrist?

Probes :

Examples of patients primary care was able to treat after consulting? Examples of patients primary care still did not feel comfortable treating after consulting? Any problems with the consultation process? Any disagreements during consultations? 8-Can you describe some examples of patients you've referred to psychiatry? Probes : What are some examples of patient issues that led to the referral? How was the referral process? What happened with the patients?

# **Improving IBH at Mercy Care**

These last few questions focus on your perspective about what's going well with IBH and how it can improve.

9- From your perspective, what are some things that can be done to improve IBH at Mercy Care?

10-Overall, what is going well with IBH at Mercy Care?

11-If you were training someone to replace you, what advice would you that person about treating patients with mental health issues through IBH?

12-Is there anything you'd like to discuss that we haven't already?

Thank you for your willingness to participate and for all that information. Your insights are necessary for writing an accurate depiction of IBH at Mercy Care. If you think of any questions, or anything you'd like to add, please feel free to let me know in person the next time you see me, or by phone or over e-mail. I'll leave you with my contact information.

## **Appendix 2: Additional Recommendations**

Recommendations are discussed in greater detail and are divided by topic below.

### I. IBH Orientation & Training

- Develop a formal IBH-specific orientation for new employees. Consider using learning modules from the University of Washington AIMS Center. Include a mock walk-through or skit demonstrating the clinic flow of IBH.
- 2. During orientation and after, offer providers the opportunity to shadow other providers or request additional education or training to help them feel more comfortable.
- 3. Increase ongoing IBH-specific training for clinicians, particularly medical providers. Consider developing decision trees or other protocols to guide BHSs and providers on when to start a medication, when to adjust the dose, when to consult psychiatry, and when to refer for specialty psychiatric services. Be prepared to refer providers to resources for self-education. Provide tools such as those available on the AIMS Center website to assist with prescription of psychotropics.
- 4. Clearly communicate the expectations of medical providers operating under Mercy Care's IBH model. Specify which conditions primary care providers should be able to manage with BHS consultation, which conditions they should manage with psychiatric consultation, and which warrant a referral.
- Allow all staff the opportunity to learn how to manage 1013s. Consider doing mock drills. After each 1013, allow the opportunity for formal debriefings to identify what went well and what can be improved.
- 6. If not done already and deemed appropriate, consider offering mental health education to the chaplain, with the goal of facilitating behavioral health referrals and empowering the

chaplain with evidence-based therapies such as motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioral therapy.

### II. IBH Staffing

- Increase psychiatric specialists. If possible, consider dedicating one psychiatric specialist to managing consultation and provider education with the goal that this may decrease the need for psychiatric referrals.
- 8. To the extent possible, ensure each clinic has at least one BHS on-site at any time providers see patients. BHSs should be considered part of the clinical team that is necessary for patients to be seen. Missing a BHS might be perceived equally as disruptive as missing a medical provider, MA, or MOS.
- 9. Increase the number of substance abuse counselors. When expanding substance abuse counseling services, prioritize the population seen at St. Luke's. Literature suggests Latino patients such as those served by MCN are more likely to seek substance use services when they're offered (Nam, Matejkowski, & Lee 2016). Lack of a SAC at MCN may account for the extremely low prevalence of substance use issues observed in that population during data collection.

### III. IBH Scheduling

To the extent possible, consider limiting most BHS follow-up therapy sessions to 30 minutes, with the goal being to promote BHS availability, particularly on walk-in days. Encourage scheduling of follow-up appointments during typically low-volume clinic times. BHSs may advise further.

### IV. IBH Screening

- 11. At clinics with lower screening rates, consider adopting successful screening processes implemented by clinics with higher screening rates.
- 12. Consider processes to increase serial testing of patients previously scoring  $\geq 10$  on the GAD-7 or PHQ-9.
- Empower all staff to administer PHQ-9 or GAD-7 screening tools to any patient who seems anxious or depressed.

### V. EHR Use & Tracking BH Patients

- 14. Continue exploring options for developing and utilizing registries to track BH patients.
- 15. Once a registry is developed and patients are tracked, assess common reasons patients miss become lost to follow-up. Use this information to anticipate which patients are at most risk for falling out care.
- 16. Continue exploring options for tracking patient outcomes and aggregating data at the clinic and organizational levels.
- 17. In collaboration with Grady, explore options for tracking shared patients who frequently utilize ED services or are otherwise high-utilizers of health services. To the extent possible, explore options for referring these patients to case management.

#### VI. Patient Engagement & Stigma Reduction

- 18. Consider campaigns to de-stigmatize mental illness. Specifically, campaigns should target Hispanic and African-American patients. Campaigns can include information about signs and symptoms of common mental health conditions, and how IBH might help.
- 19. Continue introducing the BHS in neutral terms that are less threatening to patients resistant to BH services.

- 20. When possible, consider increasing the number of peer support specialists.
- 21. Expand efforts to incorporate behavioral health information into disease-specific education groups such as those for diabetes.
- 22. Consider expanding chaplain presence across clinics and increasing the number of chaplains available to speak with patients.
- 23. For future IBH evaluations, consider interviewing IBH patients regarding their experiences being treated by the IBH model.
- 24. With regard to MyChart, consider partnering with an organization such as the public library or an individual that can offer computer literacy training for adults.

### VII. Interdisciplinary Collaboration in IBH

- 25. At each clinic, consider using morning huddles as an opportunity to review the day's patients and to anticipate issues that might arise. Ensure staff huddles consistently, and encourage the presence of all staff members.
- 26. At each clinic, to promote warm handoffs, consider how to alter clinic layout or workstations so that BHSs and providers share work space.
- 27. Designate a time each week for behavioral health, medical staff, and case management to discuss shared caseloads of difficult to manage patients.
- 28. With the acquisition of an on-site pharmacy at MCD, explore options for involving pharmacists in consultation regarding patient care, and in discussing difficult to manage patients.
- 29. Consider how to better utilize nurses and case managers in the IBH model. For example, nurses might educate BHSs on common medical issues such as diabetes and hypertension and assist BHSs in managing patients with medical and psychiatric comorbidities. Case

managers might be more involved in consulting BHSs, psychiatry, and medical providers about social issues impacting a patient's health status. Further interviewing or surveying current staff may help leadership consider how to best utilize nurses and case managers in IBH.

- 30. Many staff are not aware of the roles and duties of their colleagues. If possible, develop and continually update a staff registry that clinicians can reference for referrals for case management and support services. Include photo ID, cell phone number, e-mail address, services the staff person provides for patients, and situations that warrant a referral to that person.
- 31. To promote collaboration and mutual respect, consider allowing staff the opportunity to spend a few hours each year or quarter shadowing a staff person of a separate discipline.For example, a medical provider might choose to shadow a psychiatric specialist. A BHS might choose to shadow a nurse. A MOS might choose to shadow a MA. A MA might choose to shadow a BHS.

### VIII. Medication Management

- 32. Consider developing a protocol or guidelines for the management of psychotropic medications of new patients that providers do not feel comfortable prescribing. For patients whose psychotropics were initiated by a Mercy Care psychiatric specialist, develop a protocol or guidelines to show medical providers which (if any) psychotropics may be refilled by the primary care provider, and which should not.
- 33. For medical patients, consider developing standing orders, protocols, or guidelines so that patients who only get a one-month supply of medicines can get their blood pressure,

diabetes, or other medications refilled after a brief nursing visit in triage without seeing a medical provider.

34. Consider developing a protocol or guidelines for performing a medication reconciliation at each patient visit to ensure medication lists are accurate.

### IX. Walk-Ins, Registration, & Scheduling Processes

- 35. Re-evaluate the need for patients to see a medical provider before meeting with a BHS. Solicit staff feedback on this matter as it relates to facilitating or preventing patient access to BH services.
- 36. Continue experimenting with various scheduling models to reduce or eliminate the burdens on staff and patients associated with walk-in days. Consider open-access scheduling.
- 37. Consider having a triage nurse assist with patient scheduling in the mornings at MCD, particularly on walk-in days. The nurse can do a preliminary assessment of each patient, determining the reason for their visit, and ensuring patients are seen in order of acuity, rather than time of arrival. This may prevent patients from lining up at 4:30 a.m., since time of arrival will not influence when they need to be seen. If Mercy Care pursues this approach, they should communicate it to shelters, community partners, and the patient population as early as possible to prevent patients from waiting outside the clinic at 4:30 a.m.. The nurse might also read PPDs and expedite medication refills as needed.
- 38. Consider having a patient navigator on-site for walk-in days to ensure patients have the appropriate paperwork. Navigators can ensure patients intend to see specialists (e.g. dental, ophthalmology, psychiatry) that are on-site that day. They can also assist patients

who lack the necessary paperwork before the patient arrives at the front desk. This may help expedite the registration process.

- 39. Ensure signage at all clinic locations clearly communicate to patients the days of the week specialty services are offered. If not done already, distribute brochures to shelters and other community partners to prevent patients from seeking specialty services on days that they're not offered.
- 40. Develop an automated phone system that provides patients calling the clinic after-hours with the information regarding specialty services, clinic hours, and paperwork they need to prepare for a walk-in or scheduled day at Mercy Care clinics. This may be useful for patients lacking internet access.
- 41. Educate all staff regarding the scheduling and registration process. Encourage suggestions for process improvement.
- 42. In addition to the currently administered patient satisfaction surveys, consider employing a "secret-shopper" patient who can offer feedback about clinic processes and the patient experience.

### References

- Archer, J., Bower, P., Gilbody, S., Lovell, K., Richards, D., Gask, L.,... (2012). Collaborative care for depression and anxiety problems. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 10, CD006525.
- Aubry, T., Nelson, G., & Tsemberis, S. (2015). Housing First for People With Severe Mental
   Illness Who Are Homeless: A Review of the Research and Findings From the At Home Chez soi Demonstration Project. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry : Revue*
- Bartels, S., Coakley, E., Zubritsky, C., Ware, J., Miles, K., Areán, P., . . . Levkoff, S. (2004).
  Improving access to geriatric mental health services: A randomized trial comparing treatment engagement with integrated versus enhanced referral care for depression, anxiety, and at-risk alcohol use. *The American Journal of Psychiatry.*, *161*(8), 1455-1462.
- Bloom, D.E., Cafiero, E.T., Jané-Llopis, E., Abrahams-Gessel, S., Bloom, L.R., Fathima, S.,
  Feigl, A.B., Gaziano, T., Mowafi, M., Pandya, A., Prettner, K., Rosenberg, L., Seligman,
  B., Stein, A.Z., & Weinstein, C. (2011). The Global Economic Burden of
  Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- Blow, R. (2016). The ethical use of 1013s in Georgia and client's rights. Development Counts: Continuing education, supervision, coaching & consultation for mental health professionals! Retrieved from <u>http://developmentcounts.com/ethical-use-1013s/</u>.
- Butler, M., McCreedy, E., Schwer, N., Burgess, D., Call, K., Przedworski, J., . . . Kane, R.(2016). Improving cultural competence to reduce health disparities. *Cer170*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US).

Camacho, Á., González, P., Castañeda, S. F., Simmons, A., Buelna, C., Lemus, H., & Talavera, G. A. (2015). Improvement in Depressive Symptoms among Hispanic/Latinos receiving a Culturally Tailored IMPACT and Problem-Solving Intervention in a Community Health Center. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *51*(4), 385–392. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-014-9750-7

CARF International. (2016). Accreditation. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: <u>http://www.carf.org/Accreditation/</u>.

- Chaple, M., Sacks, S., Randell, J., & Kang, B. (2016). A Technical Assistance Framework to Facilitate the Delivery of Integrated Behavioral Health Services in Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs). *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 60, 62-69.
- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Cherokee's Blended Behavioral Health and Primary Care Clinical Model. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from:

http://www.cherokeetraining.com/pdf/Clinical%20Model-Best%20Practices.pdf.

- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Corporate Profile. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: <u>http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Corporate-Profile</u>.
- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Frequently Asked Questions. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: <u>http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=about-us-faq</u>.
- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Grants and Collaborations. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Grants-and-Collaborations.
- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). History of Cherokee Health Systems 2011. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: <u>http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Timeline</u>.
- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Mission and vision. Retrieved on 5.13.2016

from: http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Mission-and-Vision.

Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Philosophy of Care. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: <a href="http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Philosophy-of-Care">http://www.cherokeehealth.com/index.php?page=About-Us-Philosophy-of-Care</a>.

Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Primary Behavioral Health Integrated Care Training Academy. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from:

http://www.cherokeetraining.com/pdf/Registration.pdf.

- Cherokee Health Systems, Inc. (2011). Workflow. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: http://www.cherokeetraining.com/pdf/Workflow.pdf.
- Cifuentes, M., Davis, M., Fernald, D., Gunn, R., Dickinson, P., & Cohen, D. (2015). Electronic Health Record Challenges, Workarounds, and Solutions Observed in Practices Integrating Behavioral Health and Primary Care. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine., 28 Suppl 1*, S63-S72.
- Cohen, B., Edmondson, D., & Kronish, I. (2015). State of the Art Review: Depression, Stress, Anxiety, and Cardiovascular Disease. *American Journal of Hypertension, 28*(11), 1295-1302.
- Davis, M., Balasubramanian, B., Cifuentes, M., Hall, J., Gunn, R., Fernald, D., . . . Cohen, D. (2015). Clinician Staffing, Scheduling, and Engagement Strategies Among Primary Care Practices Delivering Integrated Care. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine.*, 28 Suppl 1, S32-S40.
- Dovidio, J., Penner, L., Albrecht, T., Norton, W., Gaertner, S., & Shelton, J. (n.d.). Disparities and distrust: The implications of psychological processes for understanding racial disparities in health and health care. *Social Science & Medicine.*, *67*(3), 478-486.

Mark Lamb

- Druss, B., Ji, X., Glick, G., & Von Esenwein, S. (2014). Randomized trial of an electronic personal health record for patients with serious mental illnesses. *The American Journal of Psychiatry.*, 171(3), 360-368.
- Edidin, J., Ganim, Z., Hunter, S., & Karnik, N. (2011). The mental and physical health of homeless youth: A literature review. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 43(3), 354-375.
- Emory University. (2016). Emory Saint Joseph's Hospital: Founded by Sisters of Mercy as Atlanta's first hospital. *Emory news center*. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from http://news.emory.edu/stories/2015/02/founding sisters of mercy/campus.html.
- Ferguson KM. (2012). Merging the fields of mental health and social enterprise: lessons from abroad and cumulative findings from research with homeless youths. Community Ment Health J; 48:490–502.
- Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Ganann R, Krishnaratne S, et al. (2011). Effectiveness of interventions to improve the health and housing status of homeless people: A rapid systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 11, BMC public health, Vol.11.
- Fortney, J., Sladek, R., & Unützer, J. (2015). Fixing behavioral health care in America: A national call for integrating and coordinating specialty behavioral health care with the medical system. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: <u>http://thekennedyforum-dot-</u>

org.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/KennedyForum-BehavioralHealth\_FINAL\_3.pdf.

Gask, L. (2012). Educating family physicians to recognize and manage depression: Where are we now? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry = Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie.*, 58(8), 449-455. Narrative review of published literature assessing barriers to effectively training family physicians to manage depression.

Georgia Department of Community Affairs. (2015). Georgia's 14,000: 2015 Report on Homelessness. Retrieved from

http://www.dca.state.ga.us/housing/specialneeds/programs/documents/HomelessnessRep ort2015.pdf.

- Gilbody, S., Sheldon, T., & House, A. (2008). Screening and case-finding instruments for depression: A meta-analysis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 178(8), 997-1003.
- Guerrero, E., Heslin, K., Chang, E., Fenwick, K., & Yano, E. (2015). Organizational correlates of implementation of colocation of mental health and primary care in the Veterans Health Administration. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, *42*(4), 420-428.
- Gunn, Rose, Davis, Melinda M, Hall, Jennifer, Heintzman, John, Muench, John, Smeds, Brianna,
  ... Cohen, Deborah J. (2015). Designing Clinical Space for the Delivery of Integrated
  Behavioral Health and Primary Care. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine., 28 Suppl 1*, S52-S62.
- Haddad, M., Menchetti, M., McKeown, E., Tylee, A., & Mann, A. (2015) The development and psychometric properties of a measure of clinicians' attitudes to depression: The revised Depression Attitude Questionnaire (R-DAQ). *BMC Psychiatry*, *15*, BMC psychiatry , 2015, Vol.15.
- Hall, Jennifer, Cohen, Deborah J, Davis, Melinda, Gunn, Rose, Blount, Alexander, Pollack,
  David A, . . . Miller, Benjamin F. (2015). Preparing the Workforce for Behavioral Health
  and Primary Care Integration. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine.*,
  28 Suppl 1, S41-S51.
- Heath B, Wise Romero P, and Reynolds K. (2013.) A Review and Proposed Standard Framework for Levels of Integrated Healthcare. Washington, D.C.SAMHSA-HRSA

Center for Integrated Health Solutions. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: http://www.integration.samhsa.gov/integrated-caremodels/CIHS Framework Final charts.pdf.

- Herman DB, Conover S, Gorroochurn P, et al. (2011). Randomized trial of critical time intervention to prevent homelessness after hospital discharge. Psychiatr Serv; 62:713–719.
- Huang, F., Chung, H., Kroenke, K., Delucchi, K., & Spitzer, R. (2006). Using the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 to measure depression among racially and ethnically diverse primary care patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine JGIM.*, 21(6), 547-552.
- Hwang, W.-C., Myers, H. F., Abe-Kim, J., & Ting, J. Y. (2008). A conceptual paradigm for understanding culture's impact on mental health: The cultural influences on mental health (CIMH) model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(2), 211-227.

doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.05.001.

Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement. (2015.) Preliminary results show COMPASS improves patient outcomes. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from:

https://www.icsi.org/\_asset/ncx8lw/COMPASSprelimresults.pdf.

- Integrated behavioral health project (2010). Suggested measures to evaluate the integration of primary care and mental health systems. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ibhpartners.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/outcome-process-measure-for-integrated-systems-Lurie-1.pdf</u>.
- Kearney LK, Wray LO, Dollar KM, King PR. (2015). Establishing Measurement-based Care in Integrated Primary Care: Monitoring Clinical Outcomes Over Time. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2015 Dec;22(4):213-27. doi: 10.1007/s10880-015-9443-6. Review. PubMed PMID: 26645091.

The Kennedy Forum. (2016.) About. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from:

https://www.thekennedyforum.org/about.

The Kennedy Forum. (2016.) Integration. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: https://www.thekennedyforum.org/vision/integration.

The Kennedy Forum. (2016.) Sponsors. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: https://www.thekennedyforum.org/about/sponsors.

- Keyes, C. (2009). The Black-White paradox in health: Flourishing in the face of social inequality and discrimination. *Journal of Personality*, 77(6), 1677-1706.
- King, M., Semlyen, J., Tai, S., Killaspy, H., Osborn, D., Popelyuk, D., & Nazareth, I. (2008). A systematic review of mental disorder, suicide, and deliberate self harm in lesbian, gay and bisexual people. *BMC Psychiatry*, 8, 70.
- Kinman, C., Gilchrist, E., Payne-Murphy, J., & Miller, B. (2015). Provider- and Practice-Level
  Competencies for Integrated Behavioral Health in Primary Care: A Literature Review.
  Advancing Excellence in Health Care: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
  Retrieved from

http://www.integration.samhsa.gov/workforce/AHRQ AcadLitReview.pdf.

- Krahn, D., Bartels, S., Coakley, E., Oslin, D., Chen, H., McIntyre, J., . . . Levkoff. (2006).
  PRISM-E: Comparison of integrated care and enhanced specialty referral models in depression outcomes. *Psychiatric Services : A Journal of the American Psychiatric Association.*, 57(7), 946-953.
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R., & Williams, J. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. Journal of General Internal Medicine : Official Journal of the Society for Research and Education in Primary Care Internal Medicine., 16(9), 606-613.

Laswell, A. (2015). *Mercy Care 2015 Needs Assessment*. Retrieved on 5.4.2016 from http://mercyatlanta.org/2015\_HCH\_Needs\_Assessment.pdf.

- Lin, E., Simon, G., Katzelnick, D., & Pearson, S. (2001). Does physician education on depression management improve treatment in primary care? *Journal of General Internal Medicine : Official Journal of the Society for Research and Education in Primary Care Internal Medicine., 16*(9), 614-619.
- Marin H, Escobar JI, Vega WA. Mental illness in Hispanics: a review of the literature. Focus. 2006; 4:23–37. Focus 4:23–37, 2006.
- Maslow, A.H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. Psychological Review, Vol 50(4), Jul 1943, 370-396. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0054346.</u>
- McGuire TG, Alegria M, Cook BL, Wells KB, Zaslavsky AM. Implementing the Institute of Medicine definition of disparities: An application to mental health care. Health Serv Res. 2006; 5:1979–2005.
- Mills, S., Fox, R., Malcarne, V., Roesch, S., Champagne, B., & Sadler, G. (2014). The psychometric properties of the generalized anxiety disorder-7 scale in Hispanic
  Americans with English or Spanish language preference. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(3), 463-468.
- Mercy Care. (2016). About. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/ABOUT.
- Mercy Care. (2016). Documents to bring. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/FOR\_PATIENTS\_DOCS\_TO\_BRING.
- Mercy Care. (2015). 2015 Facts Sheet. Retrieved on 5.4.2016 from http://mercyatlanta.org/2015 MC fact sheet stats8.25.pdf.

Mercy Care. (2016). Frequently Asked Questions. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from:

http://mercyatlanta.org/FOR\_PATIENTS\_FAQ.

- Mercy Care. (2016). Foundation. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/FOUNDATION.
- Mercy Care. (2016). Integrated Behavioral Health Care. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/SERVICES\_BEHAVIORAL\_HEALTH.
- Mercy Care. (2016). Legacy. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/LEGACY.
- Mercy Care. (2016). Project Summary: Integrated Behavioral Health Care. Retrieved on 5.13.2016 from:

http://mercyatlanta.org/Updated\_Executive\_Summary\_Behavioral\_Health.pdf.

- Mercy Care. (2016). The Satcher Health Leadership Institute ICLP Innovation Grants. Received via e-mail from Dr. Liz Frye on 4.1.2016.
- Mercy Care. (2016). Services. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from: http://mercyatlanta.org/SERVICES.
- Murray, Christopher JL, et al. "Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010." *The lancet* 380.9859 (2013): 2197-2223.
- Mustanski, B., Andrews, R., & Puckett, J. (n.d.). The Effects of Cumulative Victimization on Mental Health Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Adolescents and Young Adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(3), 527-533.
- Nam, E., Matejkowski, J., & Lee, S. (2016). Racial/Ethnic Differences in Contemporaneous Use of Mental Health and Substance Use Treatment Among Individuals Experiencing Both Mental Illness and Substance Use Disorders. (2016). *Psychiatric Quarterly*, Psychiatric quarterly, 2016.

- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2016). NCQA Patient-centered medical home: improving experiences for patients, providers and practice staff. Retrieved on 5.6.2016 from https://www.ncqa.org/Portals/0/PCMH%20brochure-web.pdf.
- Olfson, M., Blanco, C., & Marcus, S. (2016). Treatment of Adult Depression in the United States. *JAMA Internal Medicine.*, *176*(10), 1482-1491.
- Organizational factors and depression management in community-based primary care settings. (2009). *Implementation Science : IS., 4*, Implementation science : IS. , 2009, Vol.4.
- Osborn, D. P. J. (2001). The poor physical health of people with mental illness. *Western Journal of Medicine*, *175*(5), 329–332.
- Owusu Y, Kunik M, Coverdale J, et al. (2012). Lessons learned: a 'homeless shelter intervention' by a medical student. Acad Psychiatry; 36:219–222.
- Peikes, D., Chen, A., Schore, J., & Brown, R. (2009). Effects of care coordination on hospitalization, quality of care, and health care expenditures among Medicare beneficiaries: 15 randomized trials. *JAMA the Journal of the American Medical Association., 301*(6), 603-618.
- Parada H, Horton LA, Cherrington A, Ibarra L, Ayala GX. Correlates of Medication
  Nonadherence Among Latinos With Type 2 Diabetes. The Diabetes Educator. 2012;
  38(4):552–561.
- Reed, K. (October 3, 2016) City council votes to allow negotiations to proceed over Atlanta shelter. 11-alive.com. Retrieved from <u>http://www.11alive.com/news/local/peachtree-</u> pine-homeless-shelter/328580107
- Reinschmidt KM, Chong J. SONRISA: a curriculum toolbox for promotores to address mental health and diabetes. Prev Chronic Dis. 2007; 4(4):A101. Epub.

- Saint Joseph's Mercy Care Services. (2011). Saint Joseph's Mercy Care Services 2012 2014 Strategic Plan.
- Salize, H., Werner, A., & Jacke, C. (2013). Service provision for mentally disordered homeless people. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry.*, *26*(4), 355-361.
- Sansone, R., McDonald, S., Prutzman, C., & Henkaline, T. (2006). The comfort level of internists with the prescription of psychotropic medication. *The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine.*, 36(1), 85-92.
- Satcher Health Leadership Institute, Morehouse School of Medicine. (2016.) Mission. Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: <u>http://satcherinstitute.org/mission/</u>.
- Satcher Health Leadership Institute, Morehouse School of Medicine. (2016.) What is the ICLP? Retrieved on 5.16.2016 from: <u>http://integratedcare.satcherinstitute.org</u>.
- Sayers, J. (2001). The world health report 2001 Mental health: new understanding, new hope. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 79(11), 1085.

Serious mental illness (SMI) among U.S. adults (2014). Retrieved from

http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/serious-mental-illness-smi-amongus-adults.shtml.

- Shelton KH, Taylor PJ, Bonner A, et al. (2009) Risk factors for homelessness: evidence from a population-based study. Psychiatr Serv; 60:465–472.
- Slesnick N, Erdem G. (2012). Intervention for homeless, substance abusing mothers: findings from a nonrandomized pilot. Behav Med; 38:36–48.
- Smedley, B. D., Stith, A. Y., Nelson, A. R., & Institute of Medicine (U.S.). (2003). Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.

Stergiopoulos, V., Gozdzik, A., Misir, V., Skosireva, A., Connelly, J., Sarang, A., . . . McKenzie, K. (2015). Effectiveness of Housing First with Intensive Case Management in an Ethnically Diverse Sample of Homeless Adults with Mental Illness: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *PloS One., 10*(7), E0130281.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administrations & Health Resources and Service Administration. (n.d.). SAMHSA-HRSA Center for Integrated Health Solutions. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: <u>http://www.integration.samhsa.gov/integrated-care-models/list</u>.

```
Teegardin, C. (March 4, 2011). Atlanta's oldest hospital squeezed by financial trends. Atlanta Constitution Journal. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from :
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/atlantas-oldest-hospital-squeezed-by-health-care-t/nQrGc/.
```

- Thompson RG, Hasin D. (2012) Psychiatric disorders and treatment among newly homeless young adults with histories of foster care. Psychiatr Serv; 63:906–912.
- Thota, A., Sipe, T., Byard, G., Zometa, C., Hahn, R., McKnight-Eily, L., ... Williams, S.
  (2012). Collaborative care to improve the management of depressive disorders: A community guide systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine.*, 42(5), 525-538.
- Trinity Health. (2016). Saint Joseph's Health System: Atlanta, Georgia. Retrieved on 5.5.2016 from <u>http://www.trinity-health.org/georgia</u>.
- UNC Center for Excellence in Community Mental Health. (2016). Severe and persistent mental illness. Retrieved from https://www.med.unc.edu/psych/cecmh/patient-client-

information/patient-client-information-and-resources/clients-and-familes-resources/justwhat-is-a-severe-and-persistent-mental-illness.

- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). AIMS Center History. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: http://aims.uw.edu/who-we-are/aims-center-history.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Care Management Tracking System (CMTS). Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: <u>http://aims.uw.edu/resource-library/care-management-tracking-system-cmts</u>.
- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Care Manager Job Description. Retrieved from http://aims.uw.edu/sites/default/files/CareManagerJobDescription.pdf.
- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Commonly Prescribed Psychotropics. Retrieved from https://aims.uw.edu/sites/default/files/PsychotropicMedications 0.pdf.
- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Example Pocket Provider Tool. Retrieved from <a href="https://aims.uw.edu/resource-library/example-pocket-provider-tool">https://aims.uw.edu/resource-library/example-pocket-provider-tool</a>.
- University of Washington. (2010). IMPACT Fidelity Scale. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: <a href="http://impact-uw.org/files/FidelityScale-Dec2010.pdf">http://impact-uw.org/files/FidelityScale-Dec2010.pdf</a>.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). IMPACT: Evidence-based depression care. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: http://impact-uw.org/about/key.html.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Jürgen Unützer, MD, MPH, MA. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: <u>http://aims.uw.edu/jürgen-unützer-md-mph-ma</u>.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Mission and Vision. Retrieved from: <a href="http://aims.uw.edu/who-we-are/mission-and-vision">http://aims.uw.edu/who-we-are/mission-and-vision</a>.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Patient Education Tools. Retrieved on

5.15.2016 from: <u>http://impact-uw.org/tools/patient\_edu.html</u>.

- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Primary Care Provider (PCP). Retrieved from <a href="http://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care/team-structure/primary-care-provider-pcp">http://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care/team-structure/primary-care-provider-pcp</a>.
- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Principles of Collaborative Care. Retrieved from https://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care/principles-collaborative-care.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Problem Solving Treatment. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: http://impact-uw.org/tools/pst\_manual.html.
- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Psychiatric Consultant Job Description. Retrieved from

http://aims.uw.edu/sites/default/files/PsychiatricConsultantJobDescription 0.pdf.

- University of Washington AIMS Center. (2016). Psychiatric Consultant. Retrieved from http://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care/team-structure/psychiatric-consultant.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Resource Library. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from: <u>http://aims.uw.edu/resource-library</u>.
- University of Washington's AIMS Center. (2016). Training and Workforce Development Services. Retrieved on 5.15.2016 from:

http://aims.uw.edu/sites/default/files/Training%20and%20Workforce%20Development% 20Services.pdf.

Unützer, J., Katon, W., Callahan, C., Williams, J., Hunkeler, E., Harpole, L., . . . Langston.
(2002). Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association., 288*(22), 2836-2845. Retrieved on 5.14.2016 from: <u>http://jama.jamanetwork.com.proxy.library.emory.edu/article.aspx?articleid=195599</u>.

- Unützer, J., Katon, W., Williams, J., Callahan, C., Harpole, L., Hunkeler, E., . . . Langston. (n.d.). Improving primary care for depression in late life: The design of a multicenter randomized trial. *Medical Care.*, *39*(8), 785-799.
- Walker, E., Berry, F., Citron, T., Fitzgerald, J., Rapaport, M., Stephens, B., & Druss, B. (2015).
  Psychiatric workforce needs and recommendations for the community mental health system: A state needs assessment. *Psychiatric Services : A Journal of the American Psychiatric Association.*, 66(2), 115-117.
- Walker, E., Cummings, J., Hockenberry, J., & Druss, B. (2015). Insurance status, use of mental health services, and unmet need for mental health care in the United States. *Psychiatric Services : A Journal of the American Psychiatric Association.*, 66(6), 578-584.
- Ward, M., Miller, B., Marconi, V., Kaslow, N., & Farber, E. (2016). The Role of Behavioral Health in Optimizing Care for Complex Patients in the Primary Care Setting. *Journal of General Internal Medicine JGIM.*, 31(3), 265-267.
- Weiss, A., Guidi, J., & Fava, M. (2009). Closing the efficacy-effectiveness gap: Translating both the what and the how from randomized controlled trials to clinical practice. *The Journal* of Clinical Psychiatry., 70(4), 446-449.
- Wright, E. et al (2016). Atlanta Youth Count! Final Report: 2015 Atlanta Youth Count and needs assessment. Retrieved from

http://atlantayouthcount.weebly.com/uploads/7/9/0/5/79053356/aycna\_final\_report\_may\_2016\_final.pdf.